NO. 2008-CA-00813

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JESSE QUALLS STIGLER III, APPELLANT

VS.

LISA ELAINE STIGLER, APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF DESOTO COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOHN ROBERT WHITE, PA ATTORNEYS AT LAW POST OFFICE BOX 824 RIDGELAND, MS 39158-0824 TELEPHONE: (601) 605-9811 FACSIMILE: (601) 605-9836

E-MAIL: jrw@jrwlaw.com

JOHN ROBERT WHITE, BAR NO.

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

NO. 2008-CA-00813

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JESSE QUALLS STIGLER III, APPELLANT

VS.

LISA ELAINE STIGLER, APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. The chancellor committed manifest error by holding Jay in contempt of court without clear and convincing evidence of Jay's willful, obstinate, or intentional disregard of a court order.
- 2. The chancellor committed manifest error by holding Jay in contempt of court for unknowing noncompliance with language in the Divorce Judgment which was not sufficiently specific and which had never previously been enforced.
- The chancellor committed manifest error in applying a novel interpretation of the Divorce Judgment in direct opposition to the previous chancery court order and by invoking an unenforceable escalation clause that cannot support a finding of contempt.
- 4. The chancellor committed manifest error when he invoked an escalation clause without the occurrence of a condition precedent.
- 5. The chancellor committed manifest error by placing Jay in hopeless, continuous contempt of court by requiring him to pay an unreasonable proportion of his income to his ex-wife.
- 6. The chancellor committed manifest error by miscalculating the interest owed to Lisa under the chancellor's interpretation of the escalation clause.
- 7. The chancellor abused his discretion by granting Lisa's request for attorney's fees and committed manifest error by awarding attorney's fees without there having been evidence presented under the *McKee* factors.
- 8. The chancellor abused his discretion by failing to state with particularity the factual findings used to support an award outside the statutory guidelines.
- 9. The chancellor abused his discretion by failing to address the issue of Jay's obligation for post-secondary education being predicated upon his children's maintaining a minimum 2.0 grade point average.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings, and Disposition

This is an appeal from the Final Judgment of Contempt and Modification entered on April 10, 2008, in the Chancery Court of Desoto County, Mississippi (hereafter "Final Judgment"), determining issues raised by Appellee, Lisa Elaine Stigler (hereafter "Lisa") and Appellant, Jesse Qualls Stigler III (hereafter "Jay"). (R. 229). Lisa filed a Petition for Contempt on September 6, 2007, seeking alleged past child support based on an escalation clause that had never been invoked or interpreted as valid, seeking contempt for failure to provide proof of a life insurance policy, and further seeking Jay's incarceration. (R. 47). Lisa also sought attorney's fees and all court costs.

Jay filed his Amended Answer and Petition for Contempt and Counterclaim for Modification and Other Relief on November 16, 2007. (R. 196). Jay sought modification of his obligation due to a substantial change in his circumstances, a modification that would obligate his children to maintain a minimum 2.0 GPA (C average) to receive post-secondary support, as well as attorney's fees and all related court costs.

Following the trial on January 23, 2008, the chancery court rendered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on March 13, 2008, and entered its Final Judgment April 10, 2008. (R. 222, 229).

The chancellor held that Jay was in contempt of court for non-payment of child support in the amount of Thirty-Eight Thousand Seven Hundred Seventy-One and 98/100 Dollars (\$38,771.98) as of February 8, 2008. The chancellor calculated the arrearages by invoking an escalation clause from the original Divorce Judgment based on Jay's adjusted gross income for the years 2002 through 2007, and he added interest thereon for each year to arrive at his calculated total. The chancellor then credited Jay for Nine Thousand Fifty-

Seven and 05/100 Dollars (\$9,057.05) in surplus support payments made directly to Lisa (uncontested by Lisa at trial and uncontested herein on appeal), without removing the interest that had been calculated thereon, leaving an arrearage of Twenty-Nine Thousand Seven Hundred Fourteen and 93/100 Dollars (\$29,714.93). In other words, he charged Jay interest on the amount he credited to Jay.

The chancellor also incorporated the faulty escalation clause from the original Divorce Judgment for future child support payments and awarded Lisa attorney's fees in the amount of Nine Thousand Nine Hundred Ninety-Eight and 35/100 Dollars (\$9,998.35). The total judgment against Jay was Thirty-Nine Thousand Seven Hundred Thirteen and 28/100 Dollars (\$39,713.28). The chancellor declined to incarcerate Jay or make any ruling as to the absence of proof of a life insurance policy.

As to Jay's Amended Answer and Petition for Contempt and Counterclaim for Modification and Other Relief, the chancellor found a substantial, material change in Jay's circumstances that entitled Jay to a reduction in child support from Thirteen Hundred Dollars (\$1,300.00) per month to Six Hundred Ninety Dollars (\$690.00) per month, effective December 1, 2007. The chancellor found that Jay, through no fault of his own, was unable to continue paying Thirteen Hundred Dollars (\$1,300.00) per month in child support due to a substantial decrease in his income; yet, the chancellor ordered Jay to pay the arrearage and attorney's fees awarded in an amount of One Thousand Dollars (\$1,000.00) per month (in addition to the Six Hundred Ninety Dollars (\$690.00) per month child support award), beginning on March 10, 2008. The judgment leaves Jay with a monthly payment to Lisa of Sixteen Hundred Ninety Dollars (\$1,690.00). The chancellor declined to address Jay's request for an amendment regarding a GPA requirement for his children.

Aggrieved, Jay now appeals the Chancery Court Judgment.

B. Statement of the Facts

Jay and Lisa Stigler were divorced on December 5, 1994. The parties have two (2) children, Jesse Stigler IV, (hereafter "Jesse"), who turned twenty-one (21) years of age on August 6, 2008, and Bailey Amanda Stigler, (hereafter "Bailey"), who is currently seventeen (17) years of age and who was born on June 24, 1991. Lisa has physical custody of the children, and Jay has provided financial support for both children every month (usually on a bi-monthly basis at a minimum) since December of 1994.

Despite Jay's having lost his job in October of 2005, and having suffered periods of unemployment, ultimately being forced to take a lesser-paying job, Jay has consistently paid his child support, and has, as stipulated in the record, spent thousands of dollars buying gifts, paying for various lessons, and purchasing many other items for his children's pleasure and comfort well over the statutory guidelines. (Tr. 84-87). Jay has provided Jesse with two automobiles. Jay has paid for all medical, dental, optical, and pharmaceutical insurance, including deductibles, all of which is undisputed in the record and acknowledged by Lisa and the chancellor. When asked for additional monies by Lisa, Jay promptly wrote her a check.

Irrespective of Jay's consistent and substantial payment history to Lisa, to and for the benefit of both of his children, Lisa filed her first Petition for Modification and Motion to Enforce Judgment on June 17, 2002, referencing an escalation clause in the original Divorce Judgment. (R. 40). The clause reads as follows:

During this calendar year and each year thereafter, should Husband's bonus place the aggregate of Husband's adjusted gross income in excess of the minimum guidelines in effect in the State of Mississippi, the Husband shall pay the amount necessary to bring his child support payments \$3,600.00 in excess of the minimum amount of child support as provided by

¹ Citations to the trial testimony of witnesses shall be designated as "Tr. __."

the guidelines then [in] effect for the State of Mississippi based on the Husband's annual income.

In response to such action, an Agreed Order on Petition for Modification and Motion to Enforce Judgment was entered on March 13, 2003, (hereafter "2003 Order"). The chancellor in the 2003 Order declined to enforce or make mention of the escalation clause Lisa sought to enforce. The chancery court simply ordered Jay and Lisa to provide a truck for Jesse as a gift from both parties and to pay Lisa's attorney's fees of Seven Hundred Fifty Dollars (\$750.00). (R. 45). Jay paid for the truck in its entirety. The chancellor did not invoke the escalation clause or make any reference to a modified calculation of child support.

Consistent with the chancellor's 2003 Order, Jay continued to make child support payments to Lisa. Jay has always taken his responsibility for his children seriously, as shown by his consistent payment record, and his responsiveness to their additional requests for clothing, sporting equipment, a computer, money for activities, automobile insurance, and other items. Jay has paid not only his child support payments to Lisa, but additional, substantial amounts to insure that his children have the opportunity to engage in athletic and extra-curricular activities in order that they be able to enjoy things that their mother does not or cannot provide for them. (See Exhibits 45-56).

Despite losing a high-paying job in 2005, and suffering serious financial setbacks as a result, Jay continued to pay his child support to Lisa. Jay began taking money from his retirement accounts when he became unemployed. Jay continues to do so as a consequence of currently holding a much lower-paying job. The chancellor found, and the record reflects, that Jay's reduction in income was through no fault of his own, and Lisa does not contest this finding on appeal. By Lisa's own admission, Jay has lent Lisa money to keep her and his children comfortable when she was unable or unwilling to earn enough money to keep her

home in proper repair. The entire record reflects a man who has consistently and diligently cared for and substantially provided for his children for fourteen (14) years.

Nonetheless, Lisa again (having been unsuccessful the first time) filed a Petition for Contempt on September 9, 2007, seeking Thirty-Nine Thousand Five Hundred Sixty-Three and 62/100 Dollars (\$39,563.62) for amounts allegedly owed to Lisa, and again seeking to enforce the escalation clause, having never asked Jay for these amounts before filing her Petition for Contempt. Lisa also sought in her prayer for relief that Jay be incarcerated for contempt.

Pursuant to this action, the Final Judgment was entered on April 10, 2008, which held Jay in contempt of court and ordered him to pay Thirty-Nine Thousand Seven Hundred Thirteen and 28/100 Dollars (\$39,713.28) at a rate of One Thousand Dollars (\$1,000.00) per month. The chancellor viewed the escalation clause as a valid and enforceable contract against binding authority in the state of Mississippi and only considered one portion of the necessary factors required by law. The chancellor also ignored the condition precedent in the escalation clause which required a bonus be distributed to Jay in order for the clause to take effect. When the Divorce Judgment was entered, Jay received annual bonuses; however, during the years in question, Jay no longer received bonuses but was paid only a salary plus commission. (R. 115-117).

The chancellor left open the issue of child support obligations for 2007, although he levied arrearages and interest thereon, not even knowing Jay's adjusted gross income for 2007, as federal income tax was not yet due and payable at the time of the trial.

For the years at issue, 2002 through 2007, Jay has paid One Hundred Thirteen Thousand Four Hundred Fifty Four and 18/100 Dollars (\$113,454.18) in child support

payments directly to Lisa.² (See Exhibits 22-27 and 29). The chancellor correctly found that Jay should receive credit for payments made directly to Lisa by cash or check that were uncontradicted in the pleadings and at trial and correctly held that to do so otherwise would unjustly enrich Lisa. Lisa did not contest this credit by cross-appeal, and this credit is not at issue before the Court.

The chancellor, finding a substantial and material change in Jay's circumstances, reduced Jay's child support obligation to Six Hundred Ninety Dollars (\$690.00) per month. Lisa has not cross-appealed the modification, and the modification is not before the Court. Jay's income was stipulated to be Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000) per year, which, when calculated, leaves Jay an adjusted gross income, after only deducting mandatory taxes, of Three Thousand Five Hundred Eighty-Two and 91/100 Dollars (\$3,582.91) per month. The Final Judgment did not consider Jay's expenses, which are documented to be Five Thousand Nine Hundred Seventy-Three and 07/100 Dollars (\$5,973.07) per month, an amount in excess of his current salary. The chancellor declined to inquire into Lisa's financial status, her employment status, or her contributions to her children as required by Mississippi law when a chancellor deviates from the statutory guidelines for child support. The other factors of the mandatory *Tedford* test were similarly ignored.

The chancellor, in his payment schedule for Jay, has burdened Jay with an obligation to pay over forty-nine percent (49%) of his income to Lisa, which leaves Jay destitute and unable to meet his own financial obligations and places Jay in a negative income bracket.

² The sum of child support payments made by Jay for the years 2002 through 2007 that are not under contention is \$113,454.18. (This figure does not include the thousands of dollars of offsets that were ignored by the chancellor and reflects only amounts that went uncontradicted in the record and on which Lisa has not cross-appealed).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There is no clear and convincing evidence to support such a severe punitive action as holding Jay in willful contempt of court. The chancellor erred grievously when he held Jay in contempt after Jay had consistently provided child support payments, which in the aggregate exceeded the statutory guidelines, totaling an uncontested \$113,454.18, for the six-year period in question. Additionally, Jay has paid tens of thousands of dollars to third parties during this time for the children's benefit (for medical services, insurance, and the like) and contributed thousands of dollars in other support and assistance to and for his children. To find Jay in contempt of court is appalling, shocks the conscience, and is squarely against precedent and public policy. Such a finding is not supported in the record. The chancellor has committed manifest error and placed Jay in hopeless, continuous contempt of court, although Jay has consistently paid child support for, now, fourteen years. Contempt of court is only appropriate when the defendant obstinately and willfully disregards a court's order, which Jay has never done. The chancellor's finding of contempt should be reversed.

Further, when an order is ambiguous, or there is an escalation clause tied solely to a defendant's income, contempt cannot stand under Mississippi law. The language in the original Divorce Judgment has never been interpreted in the manner that the chancellor did herein, and the escalation clause upon which the arrearages were calculated is unenforceable because it rests solely on Jay's adjusted gross income. Adjusted gross income alone does not meet the four-part test required by law, and the escalation clause is, therefore, void *ab initio*. Mississippi law makes clear that such escalation clauses or ambiguous language under contention, both of which are present in the instant case, cannot become a basis for contempt. The escalation clause rested upon a condition precedent, the non-occurrence of which

rendered the clause moot and, therefore, unenforceable. The interest on the arrearages calculated on the escalation clause is likewise in error, and the judgment awarding Lisa the arrearages and interest should be reversed.

Further, the payment schedule levied against Jay is excessive and requires him to pay an unreasonable portion of his income (forty-nine percent (49%)), leaving Jay without the possibility of leading a normal life with a decent standard of living. That result runs counter to Mississippi case law and public policy. The arrearages calculated by the chancellor are in error even under the invalid escalation clause utilized by the chancellor. The chancellor calculated arrearages and then added interest thereon for six one-year periods; at the end of his calculation, the chancellor correctly credited Jay for surplus monies paid to Lisa, yet he failed to remove the interest he had already tacked onto those amounts, resulting in a double penalty for Jay. The payment schedule is unreasonable *per se*, improperly calculated, and should be reversed.

Under both Mississippi law and public policy, children must earn the right to support for post-secondary education, both by maintaining some semblance of a relationship with their non-custodial parent, and by maintaining a minimum level of achievement in college that reflects a combination of aptitude and effort. The chancellor was in error when he failed to address the issue of a minimum 2.0 GPA requirement for Jay's children in order that the payment of their college expenses continue.

Because the award of Lisa's attorney's fees was based on a finding of contempt that is clear error, because the arrearages and interest were calculated on an ambiguous and unenforceable escalation clause, and because Lisa was unsuccessful on two of her claims, Lisa's award of attorney's fees should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

1. The chancellor committed manifest error by holding Jay in contempt of court without clear and convincing evidence of Jay's willful, obstinate, or intentional disregard of a court order.

Contempt of court must be proven by "clear and convincing evidence." Cossitt v. Cossitt, 975 So. 2d 274, 277 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008)(holding that the husband, although he whited out information on his tax stubs, interfered with his ex-wife's privacy, and failed to report his correct income, was not in contempt of court); Shelton v. Shelton, 653 So. 2d 283 (Miss. 1985). As noted in the Cossitt case, "A finding of contempt is a very serious matter . . . and is proper when 'the contemnor has willfully and deliberately ignored the order of the court." Cossitt, 975 So. 2d at 277 (citing Bredemeier v. Jackson, 689 So. 2d 770, 777 (Miss. 1997)). The facts in the case at bar do not support a finding of contempt under any standard, let alone the higher standard of clear and convincing evidence.

When a defendant continues to pay an amount consistent with a previous order, he does not commit a willful or deliberate violation and cannot be held in contempt. *Hunt v. Asanov*, 975 So. 2d 899 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (holding that Dr. Asanov was not in contempt when he continued to make payments under one court order which was not challenged for three years, and finding that it was "entirely reasonable to infer that Dr. Asanov believed he was in compliance" and therefore the good faith payments were a bar to a contempt finding). At no time did Jay willfully and deliberately ignore any order of the court, and there is nothing in the record to indicate intentional disregard or refusal to abide by any court order. In fact, the only previous order that was handed down in 2003, which was based on the original Divorce Judgment, made no reference to any additional calculations or escalations, implying that Jay had been calculating his child support properly. The chancellor, in response to Lisa's first Petition for Contempt and Modification, further barred Lisa from

seeking additional child support for any previous years since the divorce in 1994 through 2001. Jay had every reason to believe he was complying with the standing order of the court when he diligently and consistently paid his child support payments as he had been doing for the previous thirteen years.

The Supreme Court has long held that contempt must be willful, and if a defendant failed to pay child support under advice of counsel, the defendant cannot be held in contempt. *Gray v. Pearson*, 797 So. 2d 387, 396 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) (holding that the father's failure to pay child support at the advice of counsel defeated the charge of willful contempt). Lisa, Lisa's attorney, Paige Williams, who represented Lisa in her first unsuccessful action for contempt against Jay, and Darrell Baugh of the Mississippi Department of Human Services, each calculated Jay's child support payments in the same manner that Jay had been doing since 1994, without reference to what was clearly an unenforceable, and heretofore unenforced and ambiguous, escalation clause. (See Exhibits 35A, 36A, and 37).

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