NO. 2008-CA-00813

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JESSE QUALLS STIGLER III, APPELLANT

VS.

LISA ELAINE STIGLER, APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Jesse Qualls Stigler III
- 2. Lisa Elaine Stigler
- 3. John Robert White, Attorney of Record for Appellant
- 4. Jerry Wesley Hisaw, Attorney of Record for Appellee
- 5. Honorable Mitchell M. Lundy, Jr., Chancellor

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

"Each payment that becomes due and remains unpaid 'becomes a judgment' against the supporting parent.' "*Tanner v. Roland*, 598 So.2d 783, 786 (Miss.1992). "**The only defense thereto is payment**." *Id.* (emphasis added). The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that once child support payments become past due they become vested and cannot be modified. *Thurman v. Thurman*, 559 So.2d 1014, 1016 (Miss.1990); *Brand v. Brand*, 482 So.2d 236, 237 (Miss.1986). A chancellor's finding on conflicting evidence will not be disturbed on appeal unless it is manifestly wrong. *Milam*, 509 So.2d at 866.

The evidence produced at trial showed that Mr. Stigler repeatedly ignored the order of the

Court to pay his Court ordered child support and chose to pay it in his own way. (Tr. 76-79), (R. 152-169), (Ex. 45-56). Mr. Stigler would repeatedly attempt to "offset" anything he could attempt to claim as child support. He repeatedly attempted to claim Christmas presents, teddy bears for his daughter, and miscellaneous other non-necessary items as child support. (R. 152-169). Mr. Stigler offered conflicting testimony in his examination concerning what he felt the provisions of the divorce decree meant but his own handwritten notes entered as exhibits directly conflicted his testimony. (Tr. 14-17)(Ex. 32-33).

Regular child support refers to sums of money which a parent is ordered to pay for the child's basic, necessary living expenses, namely food, clothing, and shelter. *Nichols v. Tedder*, 547 So. 2d 766 (Miss. 1989). Mr. Stigler provided no receipts or other proof of the amounts he allegedly paid relying only upon his own testimony and a list of self-serving typed payments he allegedly prepared from receipts and checks but the receipts and checks were never produced for the Court. As such, the veracity of his statements is very much in question and the purported summary of expenses carries no evidentiary value. "No party obligated by a judicial decree to provide support for minor children may resort to self help and modify his or her obligation with impunity." *Cumberland v. Cumberland*, 564 So.2d 839, 847 (Miss.1990). A party making an extra-judicial modification does so at his own peril. *Alexander v. Alexander*, 494 So.2d 365, 367-68 (Miss.1986). Based on the evidence presented, it cannot be said that the chancellor abused his discretion in holding Mr. Stigler in contempt of Court.

2. The Judgment of Divorce was very specific and there was clear evidence that the parties had been abiding by the Judgment for years with Mr. Stigler attempting to avoid payment.

It is a well established principal in Mississippi that "... a true and genuine property settlement agreement is not different than any other contract, and the mere fact that it is between a divorcing husband and wife, and incorporated in a divorce decree, does not change its character." *West v. West*, 891 So.2d 203, 210 (Miss. 2004). The Mississippi Supreme Court has further noted that "[W]hen parties in a divorce proceeding have reached an agreement that a chancery court has approved, we will enforce it, absent fraud or overreaching, and we take a dim view of efforts to modify it just as we do when persons seek relief from improvident contracts." *Ivison*, 762 So.2d at (14) (citing Bell v. Bell, 572 So.2d 841, 844 (Miss. 1990)).

A property settlement agreement is akin to any other contractual obligation. *In re Estate* of Hodges, 807 So.2d 438 (Miss. 2002). Therefore, it must be analyzed under those same principles applied to contract interpretation. The Mississippi Supreme Court has set out a three-tiered analysis for contract interpretation. *Tupelo Redevelopment Agency v. Abernathy*, 913 So.2d 278 (Miss. 2005).

First, the "four corners" test is applied, wherein the reviewing court looks to the language that the parties used in expressing their agreement. Second, if the court is unable to translate a clear understanding of the parties' intent, the court should apply the discretionary "canons" of contract construction. Finally, if the contract continues to evade clarity as to the parties' intent, the court should consider extrinsic or parol evidence. It is only when the review of a contract reaches this point that prior negotiations, agreements and conversations might be considered in determining the parties' intentions in the construction of the contract. *Id.* (internal citations omitted). However, this is not a rigid step-by-step approach to contract interpretation, and

overlapping of steps is not prohibited. *West v. West*, 891 So.2d 203 (Miss. 2004). Finally, a reviewing court must keep in mind that "[t]he primary purpose of all contract construction principles and methods is to determine and record the intent of the contracting parties." *Abernathy*, 913 So.2d at (¶12). When questions arise concerning the meaning of a "judgment decree or opinion of court, . . . answers are sought by the same rules of construction which appertain to other legal documents." *Wilson v. Freeland*, 773 So.2d 305 (Miss. 2000). "[W]here ambiguities may be found, the agreement should be construed much as is done in the case of a contract, with the court seeking to gather the intent of the parties and render its clauses harmonious in the light of that intent." *Switzer v. Switzer*, 460 So.2d 843, 846 (Miss. 1984). Where the express language of the property settlement agreement is unambiguous, the agreement should be enforced. *Carite v. Carite*, 841 So.2d 1148 (Miss.Ct.App.2002).

Paragraph D in the Property Settlement between the parties provided that

"D. The husband shall pay child support to the wife in the amount of \$1,300.00 per month beginning January 1, 1997, and due and payable the first day of each month thereafter. During this calendar year and each year thereafter should Husband's bonus place the aggregate of Husband's adjusted gross income in excess of the minimum guidelines in effect in the State of Mississippi, the Husband shall pay the amount necessary to bring his child support payments \$3,600.00 in excess of the minimum amount of child support as provided by the guidelines then effect for the State of Mississippi based on the Husband's annual income."

Mr. Stigler has been in the sales industry for almost thirty years. (Tr. 3). The parties recognized when entering into their property agreement that Mr. Stigler would get a salary plus additional compensation of some kind each year due to the nature of his job. The parties were seeking to create an agreement that would result in Jesse Qualls Stigler III having to pay \$3,600.00 above the statutory guidelines for child support based on his adjusted gross annual income. (R. 224) (Tr. 110). The language of the provision is clear on it's face. One simply

calculates the total income of Mr. Stigler by adding his salary plus his additional compensation, calculate the statutory amount of child support, and then add thirty-six hundred dollars (\$3,600.00). Mr. Stigler understood that and just grumbled about his agreement every year. (Ex. 33-37). Based on some of the testimony presented, this agreement was possibly the result of some astute tax planning to allow Ms. Stigler to receive a form of alimony with Mr. Stigler receiving certain tax advantages by paying increased child support. (Tr. 110).

Mr. Stigler alleges that he was only obligated to pay \$1,300.00 per month for the years in question. However, he engaged in a heated dispute every year over what he thought he should be able to claim as child support. (Ex. 33-37). It is completely illogical for Mr. Stigler to come now and try to say that he was not obligated to pay these payments after he so heavily disputed the previous years with Ms. Stigler. If that had been the case, he would not have even argued with his ex-wife about the offset amounts he was claiming. The exhibits offered at trial in Mr. Stigler's own handwriting showed that he clearly understood the provision and just felt the amount he was paying was too much. (Ex.33-37). For Mr. Stigler to attempt to argue on appeal that he did not understand the provision he violated is disingenuous at best.

The chancellor additionally found that the specific and obvious intent of the parties was to compute the total adjusted gross income of the parties and then pay an additional \$3,600.00 above that amount. (R. 224). The Court on appeal is not to reweigh the evidence or reconsider the credibility of the witnesses. The chancellor is in "a better position then the Court to judge the veracity of witnesses and credibility of evidence." *Lee v. Lee*, 798 So.2d 1284, 1291 (Miss. 2001). The chancellor weighed the testimony of the parties and found the intent of the parties despite Mr. Stigler's attempt to rewrite his divorce decree fourteen years later. Based on the evidence presented, it cannot be said that the chancellor abused his discretion in holding Mr.

Stigler in contempt of Court based on the language as written.

(3) The clause in the divorce decree is valid and enforceable and the enforceability of the provision was never raised at the trial level.

The Appellant attempts to argue now on appeal that the provision for which he was held in contempt is an unenforceable escalation clause. At no point at the trial level did Mr. Stigler ever object to the child support provision of the divorce decree in question as an unenforceable escalation clause. This issue was not raised in the chancery court proceedings; therefore, it cannot be raised on appeal. Failure to raise an issue in a trial court procedurally bars the issue on appeal. *Daniels v. Bains*, 967 So. 2d 77, 81 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

Procedural bar notwithstanding, this issue is without merit. The parties may in fact agree of their own volition to do more than the law requires of them. Where such a valid agreement is made, it may be enforced just as any other contract. *East v. East*, 493 So.2d 927, 931-32 (Miss.1986). In 2005 the Court of Appeals altered the approach to escalation clauses in child support agreements, enforcing a father's agreement to pay fourteen percent of his adjusted gross income or \$600.00 a month. The Court rejected the father's argument that the provision was an unenforceable escalation clause stating that the parties "may agree of their own volition to do more than the law requires of them." *Rogers v. Rogers*, 919 So.2d 184, 189 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). Mr. Stigler agreed to pay the amount of child support as set forth in the parties' decree of divorce. While the amount was outside of the child support guidelines, this was what Mr. Stigler agreed to do.

Even under the Court's law prior to 2005, the clause would still be enforceable. An escalation clause can be enforced in an arrearage action to avoid excusing a payor. To do otherwise "could prove detrimental to innocent children." *Carter v. Carter*, 735 So.2d 1109,

1116 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). As such, Mr. Stigler is completely barred from raising this issue now on appeal. However, even if the issue was properly preserved, the clause would still be enforceable under the law post *Rogers* or even pre-*Rogers*.

4. Mr. Stigler received regular additional compensation which triggered the enforcement of the escalation clause.

It is a well established principal in Mississippi that "... a true and genuine property settlement agreement is not different than any other contract, and the mere fact that it is between a divorcing husband and wife, and incorporated in a divorce decree, does not change its character." *West v. West*, 891 So.2d 203, 210 (Miss. 2004). The Mississippi Supreme Court has further noted that "[W]hen parties in a divorce proceeding have reached an agreement that a chancery court has approved, we will enforce it, absent fraud or overreaching, and we take a dim view of efforts to modify it just as we do when persons seek relief from improvident contracts." *Ivison*, 762 So.2d at (14) (citing Bell v. Bell, 572 So.2d 841, 844 (Miss. 1990)).

Therefore, it must be analyzed under those same principles applied to contract interpretation. The Mississippi Supreme Court has set out a three-tiered analysis for contract interpretation. *Tupelo Redevelopment Agency v. Abernathy*, 913 So.2d 278 (Miss. 2005). First, the "four corners" test is applied, wherein the reviewing court looks to the language that the parties used in expressing their agreement. Second, if the court is unable to translate a clear understanding of the parties' intent, the court should apply the discretionary "canons" of contract construction. Finally, if the contract continues to evade clarity as to the parties' intent, the court should consider extrinsic or parol evidence. It is only when the review of a contract reaches this point that prior negotiations, agreements and conversations might be considered in determining the parties' intentions in the construction of the contract. *Id.* (internal citations omitted). However, this is not a rigid step-by-step approach to contract interpretation, and overlapping of steps is not prohibited. *West v. West*, 891 So.2d 203 (Miss. 2004). Finally, a reviewing court must keep in mind that "[t]he primary purpose of all contract construction principles and methods is to determine and record the intent of the contracting parties." *Abernathy*, 913 So.2d at (¶12).

Paragraph D in the Property Settlement between the parties provided that :

"D. The husband shall pay child support to the wife in the amount of \$1,300.00 per month beginning January 1, 1997, and due and payable the first day of each month thereafter. During this calendar year and each year thereafter should Husband's bonus place the aggregate of Husband's adjusted gross income in excess of the minimum guidelines in effect in the State of Mississippi, the Husband shall pay the amount necessary to bring his child support payments \$3,600.00 in excess of the minimum amount of child support as provided by the guidelines then effect for the State of Mississippi based on the Husband's annual income."

The parties were seeking to create an agreement that would result in Mr. Stigler having to pay \$3,600.00 above the statutory guidelines for child support based on his gross annual income. Based on the evidence presented, this additional \$3,600.00 was used as a form of tax planning to lower the tax liability of Mr. Stigler in lieu of alimony. (Tr. 110).

In the sales industry, bonus and commission are used interchangeably. Merriam-Webster's Collegiate Dictionary defines a bonus as money or an equivalent given in addition to an employee's usual compensation. *Merriam-Webster's Collegiate Dictionary*, 10 ed. 2002. Burton's Legal Thesaurus lists a bonus as being synonymous with "something over and above". *Burton's Legal Thesaurus*, 4th ed. McGraw Hill Publishing, 2007. Additionally the terms bonus and commission are synonyms for each other as pointed out by most thesauri including Burton's legal thesaurus. *Burton's Legal Thesaurus*, 4th ed. McGraw Hill Publishing, 2007. The argument of Mr. Stigler that the agreed support calculations applied to this one job only has been rejected in a similar case by the Mississippi Supreme Court. In the absence of language which limits the support obligation to a specific source of income, the arrangement for the support obligation will apply to all future employers or other sources of income. *D'Avignon v. D'Avignon*, 2004 –CA002215-COA (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). As such, the language was clear and unambiguous as written.

Further, Mr. Stigler did not challenge the language of the support clause in the 2003 litigation when he was working for Storopack, a different employer than the employer he worked for at the entry of the Property Settlement. (Tr. 164-166) The Appellant never alleged that the support calculation did not apply during the course of dealing with parties, and the Appellant never alleged the support payment was improper in his current pleadings. As such, it is without merit to allege any alternate meaning of the agreement now on appeal in an attempt to avoid what the Respondent agreed to do in the original property settlement agreement.

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